**FILED**  
**09-26-2025**  
**CLERK OF WISCONSIN**  
**COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case Nos. 2025AP1745-CR; 2025AP1746-CR;  
2025AP1747-CR; 2025AP1748-CR;  
2025AP1749-CR; 2025AP1750-CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

B.M.T.,

Defendant-Appellant.

---

Appeal from Orders of Commitment for Treatment  
(Incompetency) Entered in the Manitowoc County  
Circuit Court, the Honorable Mark R. Rohrer,  
Presiding

---

BRIEF OF  
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

---

DAVID J. SUSENS  
Assistant State Public Defender  
State Bar No. 1099463

Office of the State Public Defender  
Post Office Box 7862  
Madison, WI 53707-7862  
(608) 267-2124

## ISSUES PRESENTED

The circuit court found Brian<sup>1</sup> incompetent under Wis. Stat. § 971.14 in six separate Manitowoc County cases. Following a later hearing, the circuit court ordered involuntary medication in all cases.

1. Did the involuntary medication order violate Brian's right to due process because the court failed to consider the specific facts of the cases when concluding that the state met its burden under first factor in *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166 (2003)?

Without allowing the parties to make any legal argument, the circuit court concluded that the state met its burden on the first *Sell* factor because Brian was charged with felonies.

2. Did the involuntary medication order violate Brian's right to due process because the proposed treatment plan was insufficiently individualized to prove the second and fourth *Sell* factors?

Relying solely on the testimony of a psychiatrist who did not physically examine Brian and offered no records discussing Brian's specific medical condition, the circuit court held that the state met its burden.

---

<sup>1</sup> Under Wis. Stat. § 809.109, B.M.T.'s appeal from an order under Wis. Stat. § 971.14 is confidential and this brief refers to B.M.T. by the pseudonym, "Brian."

## **POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

Oral argument is not requested because the parties can fully address the issues through briefing.

Publication is not warranted because the issue presented requires only the application of facts to binding caselaw.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

Brian is a 49-year-old man with a documented history of mental illness dating back to 1995. (R.38:3; App. 17).<sup>2</sup> After first being diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder in 1995, Brian has been hospitalized at Winnebago Mental Health Institute on nine occasions under chapter 51 commitments. (R.38:3; App. 17). Brian was a resident at Trempealeau County Health Care Center from 2015-2019. (R.38:3; App. 17). Brian's most recent civil commitment ended in March 2024. (R.38:3; App. 17).

A few months after his most recent civil commitment ended, the state charged Brian with three counts of felony bail jumping and one count of misdemeanor bail jumping when he allegedly violated a no contact order "with Kwik Trip on 8<sup>th</sup> Street in Manitowoc." (R.2:1-2). According to the complaint, Brian "bought a Pepsi" from Kwik Trip, was "unaware

---

<sup>2</sup> Unless otherwise identified by case number, citations to the record refer to the document number in Manitowoc County Case No. 2024CF488 and Appeal No. 2025AP1750-CR.

of the bail conditions,” and was transported to the Manitowoc County Jail “without incident.” (R.2:2).

According to the complaint, Brian was on bond in four other cases and had been charged in 2015CF117 with battery by a prisoner, disorderly conduct, and 2 counts of misdemeanor bail jumping. (R.2:2). In total, Brian was charged with 20 counts in 6 separate cases—including 1 count of possession of drug paraphernalia, 4 counts of disorderly conduct, 5 counts of misdemeanor bail jumping, 1 count of misdemeanor battery, 1 count of possession of methamphetamine, 1 count of substantial battery, 6 counts of felony bail jumping, and 1 count of battery by prisoner—between February 24, 2015 and July 15, 2024. (R.44:2; App. 4).

On December 17, 2024, Brian was found incompetent to stand trial on each of those charges based on the evaluation and testimony of Kristine Nehring, Psy.D., a licensed psychologist. (2025AP1749-R.24:1-9; R.18:1-29; App. 6-14). Brian was committed to the care of the Department of Health Services (DHS) for competency restoration treatment for a period of 12 months. (R.44:1-2; App. 3-4). At that time, the circuit court did not order involuntary medication. (R.13:2). Brian was granted 28 days of credit for pre-commitment incarceration. (R.44:3; App. 5).

Six months later, the state moved for an involuntary medication order based on the report of Kevin Murtaugh, MD, a psychiatrist at Mendota

Mental Health Institute. (R.38:1; R.47:4; App. 15, 30). Dr. Murtaugh also submitted a treatment plan proposing a 400mg long-acting injection of aripiprazole (Abilify) every 4 weeks. (R.38:6; App. 20). Dr. Murtaugh also proposed “up to 30mg/day” of oral aripiprazole “for the first 2 months of treatment with the long-acting injection. (R.38:6; App. 20). He also proposed “Olanzapine 5-10mg/day for refused oral aripiprazole.” (R.38:6).

According to Dr. Murtaugh, during a previous course of treatment, Brian “responded fairly well to long-acting injectable haloperidol but said he did not like how it made him feel.” (R.38:4; App. 18). Dr. Murtaugh did not specify when Brian took haloperidol or how much he took. According to the report, B.M.T. has also “taken paliperidone long-acting injection but it’s unclear if he took it long enough for it to adequately treat his symptoms.” (R.38:4; App. 18). Dr. Murtaugh reported that Brian was offered oral aripiprazole on June 4, 2025, but refused all doses (R.38:6; App. 20).

According to the treatment plan, Dr. Murtaugh explained the advantages of taking aripiprazole and read the possible side effects to Brian. (R.38:8; App. 22). Brian responded that he would not take any medication and that he planned to pay for outpatient competency restoration treatment. (R.38:8; App. 22). Dr. Murtaugh attached Micromedex “DrugNotes” for oral and injectable aripiprazole to the treatment plan and gave Brian access to those notes. (R.38:8-12; App. 22-26).

On June 18, 2025, the court held an involuntary medication hearing. (R.47:1; App. 27). Dr. Murtaugh was the sole witness at the hearing. (R.47:2; App. 28). Dr. Murtaugh testified that he “performed an evaluation” on Brian and reviewed his records from Mendota and Winnebago. (R.47:5-6; App. 31-32). He repeated his medication recommendations from the treatment plan. (R.47:6; App. 32).

Dr. Murtaugh testified that Brian “isn’t currently taking any other medications and he has not made us aware of any physical health conditions nor does he show any signs of a concerning physical health condition that would necessitate a dose adjustment. (R.47:6-7; App. 32-33). Without discussing any particular medical records, and without describing any physical examination, Dr. Murtaugh explained that “[a]s far as I know [Brian] is generally a healthy man” and that he was “not aware of” any medical conditions that would preclude the use of any specific psychiatric medications. (R.47:7; App. 33).

Dr. Murtaugh explained that Brian’s diagnosis of schizoaffective disorder means that there are no “good evidence-based treatments” other than anti-psychotic medications. (R.47:7; App. 33). When asked if it was likely the medication would render Brian competent, he explained that Brian has not taken Abilify (aripiprazole) before and he “can’t really predict” whether it would render “any one specific patient” competent. (R.47:7-8; App. 33-34). Dr. Murtaugh elaborated by describing unspecified records showing that Brian “didn’t like how

specifically the medication haloperidol made him feel” but it “did seem to be helpful medication for him.” (R.47:8; App. 34). According to Dr. Murtaugh, “generally speaking . . . most patients tolerate Abilify which is a newer medication better than haloperidol.” (R.47:8; App. 34).

When asked if Brian was likely to become competent without medication, Dr. Murtaugh testified that he did not “believe so.” (R.47:9; App. 35). Dr. Murtaugh explained that that schizoaffective disorder is a “lifelong illness” with “continuous symptoms” that may “wax and wane” but do not “resolve.” (R.47:9-10; App. 35-36). Dr. Murtaugh testified that he attempted to discuss the advantages and side effects of accepting medication and Brian responded that “he doesn’t take medication” and “gets focused on” receiving “treatment to competency on an outpatient basis.” (R.47:8-10; App. 34-36).

Dr. Murtaugh did not discuss any specific side effects of Abilify. Instead, he explained that “most patients that I treat with this medication do very well on it, but I cannot predict any specific, you know, result for a patient who hasn’t taken it before.” (R.47:12; App. 38). Dr. Murtaugh concluded his direct testimony by explaining that “[s]ometimes even people who have take [Abilify] can have different side effects at different times” because “psychiatric medications are strange like that.” (R.47:12; App. 38).

Responding to a question from the court about whether “any type of physical examination” took place at Mendota, Dr. Murtaugh admitted that “I don’t recall if [Brian] participated in” any “opportunity to meet with one of our . . . internal medicine specialists” to do a “full history and physical.” (R.47:12-13; App. 38-39).

Without hearing arguments from the parties, the circuit court immediately issued an oral ruling. (R.47:22-27; App. 48-53). The court first found that Brian is not competent to refuse medication. (R.47:23-25; App. 49-51).

Then the court discussed the four factors in *Sell* and found that the state proved the first *Sell* factor. According to the court, because Brian is “charged with a number of felony cases” which are “serious crimes as one could go to prison . . . obviously trying to make someone competent so they can be brought to trial is a sufficient important governmental interest.” (R.47:25-26; App. 51-25).

Next the court found that the second *Sell* factor was met because the “doctor has clearly testified, it’s uncontroverted, that the medication will assist, based upon his experience as a doctor, in making him competent to proceed to trial.” (R.47:26; App. 52).

The court then found that the third *Sell* factor was met because that “doctor testified outpatient isn’t going to work, medication is necessary as the means of assisting in returning [Brian] to competency to stand trial in this case.” (R.47:26; App. 52).

Finally, the court found that the fourth *Sell* factor was met because there is “no medical condition that [Brian] is suffering from where there would be adverse effects in taking the medication.” (R.47:26-27; App. 52-53). The court also found that the proposed treatment plan was sufficient because it included “specific medications, dosage, and frequency” and the doctor reviewed “medical history, medical conditions, and risk factors or side effects.” (R.47:27; App. 53).

The circuit court issued a written order for involuntary medication in all cases. (R.44:1-3; App. 3-5).

Brian’s trial attorney moved to continue the automatic stay of involuntary medication in each case, under Wis. Stat. § 809.109(7)(b). After reviewing memoranda of the parties on the stay motion, this Court denied that motion on August 5, 2025. This Court consolidated the two cases for appeal on September 24, 2025. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

Every individual has a “significant constitutionally protected liberty interest in avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic drugs.” *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 177 (internal citation omitted). The forced administration of antipsychotic medication at the hands of the government “constitutes a deprivation” of that core liberty interest “in the most literal and fundamental sense.” *United States v.*

*Watson*, 793 F.3d 416, 419 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2015) (internal citations omitted).

“With such an important liberty interest at stake, the accompanying protections should mirror the serious nature of the proceedings.” *Langlade Cnty. v. D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶43, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277. Thus, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has declared that circuit courts must consider the *Sell* factors before ordering involuntary medication to restore trial competency. *State v. Fitzgerald*, 2019 WI 69, ¶2, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165.

This Court has expanded upon that basic directive and clarified what the state must do to meet its burden under *Sell* when a defendant’s “constant” and “significant liberty interest in avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic drugs” is at stake. *State v. Green*, 2021 WI App 18, ¶¶ 17, 35, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583; *see also State v. J.D.B.*, 2024 WI App 61, 414 Wis. 2d 108, 13 N.W.3d 525, *review granted*, 2025 WI 8, 18 N.W.3d 694.

Here, because the state failed to meet its burden to prove the *Sell* factors under the binding standards in *Sell*, *Green*, and *J.D.B.*, this Court should reverse the circuit court and vacate the involuntary medication orders.

### **I. The *Sell* test and the standard of review.**

To meet its burden under *Sell*, the state must first prove that “*important* governmental interests are at stake.” *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180 (emphasis in original).

This requires proof that medication aims to bring “to trial an individual accused of a serious crime.” *Id.* To find for the state on the first factor, the court “must consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government’s interest in prosecution.” *Id.*

Second, the state must prove that “involuntary medication will *significantly further* the government’s interest in prosecuting the offense.” *Id.* at 181 (emphasis in original). To meet its burden on the second factor, the state must prove “that administration of the drugs is substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial” and “substantially unlikely to have side effects that will interfere significantly with the defendant’s ability to assist counsel in conducting a trial defense, thereby rendering the trial unfair.” *Id.*

Third, the state must prove “that involuntary medication is *necessary* to further those interests.” *Id.* (emphasis in original). This factor requires clear and convincing evidence that “any alternative, less intrusive treatments are unlikely to achieve substantially the same result.” *Id.* In evaluating this factor, the court “must consider less intrusive means for administering the drugs, e.g., a court order to the defendant backed by the contempt power, before considering more intrusive methods.” *Id.*

Fourth, the State must prove “that administration of the drugs is *medically appropriate*, i.e., in the patient’s best medical interest in light of his [or her] medical condition.” *Id.* (emphasis in original).

Because “[d]ifferent kinds of antipsychotic drugs may produce different side effects and enjoy different levels of success,” courts should consider “the specific kinds of drugs at issue.” *Id.*

“[A] defendant’s liberty interest in refusing involuntary medication at the pretrial stage of criminal proceedings” can be overcome only when “each one of the factors set out in *Sell*” is met. *State v. Green*, 2022 WI 30, ¶2, 401 Wis. 2d 542, 973 N.W.2d 770. The state bears the burden to prove each *Sell* factor by clear and convincing evidence. *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 654, ¶16; *United States v. James*, 938 F.3d 719, 723 (5th Cir. 2019) (collecting cases showing that all ten federal circuits agree on this burden and standard of proof.).

In evaluating these factors, the task of the court is to answer the following: “Has the Government, in light of the efficacy, the side effects, the possible alternatives, and the medical appropriateness of a particular course of antipsychotic drug treatment, shown a need for that treatment sufficiently important to overcome the individual’s protected interest in refusing it?” *Id.* at 183 (citing *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 229 (1990); *Riggins v. Nevada*, 504 U.S. 127, 134-35 (1992)). While the Constitution may permit forcible medication in some cases, “[t]hose instances may be rare.” *Id.* at 180.

Given the serious deprivation of liberty at stake, “a high level of detail is plainly contemplated by the comprehensive findings *Sell* requires.”

*United States v. Chavez*, 734 F.3d 1247, 1252 (10th Cir. 2013). If the state failed to prove any of the four *Sell* factors, the involuntary medication order violates the Due Process Clause and is unconstitutional. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 179.

Neither *Sell* nor any Wisconsin court has specified the standard of review applicable to a circuit court's involuntary medication orders under *Sell*. *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶18, 957 N.W.2d 583. But because involuntary medication implicates Brian's vital liberty interests and due process rights, this Court should hold that the issues present questions of constitutional fact which require this court to apply facts to the applicable constitutional standard in *Sell*. See *State v. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 715, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984); see also, *D.J.W.*, 391 Wis. 2d. 231, ¶¶23-24. Under that standard, this Court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous or against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. *D.J.W.*, 391 Wis. 2d 231, ¶24. Whether those facts meet the legal standard is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d at 716; *D.J.W.*, 391 Wis. 2d 231, ¶25.

**II. The involuntary medication order violates due process because the state failed to meet its burden on the first *Sell* factor.**

While the state's "interest in bringing to trial an individual accused of a serious crime is important," courts must "consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the interest in the [state's] prosecution."

*Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. Even when a defendant is charged with a serious crime, “[s]pecial circumstances may lessen the importance of [the government’s] interest” in bringing the defendant to trial. *Id.*

The relevant inquiry under the first *Sell* factor is “whether, under the particular circumstances of each individual case, the state has an important interest in bringing *that defendant* to trial on that serious charge.” *J.D.B.*, 2024 WI App 61, ¶37 (emphasis in original). That inquiry is two-fold and “determining whether a defendant is charged with a serious crime is only the first step.” *Id.*, ¶39. “Courts must also consider the facts of the individual case to determine if special circumstances lessen the state’s interest in prosecution.” *Id.* Here, the state cannot meet its burden to show that it has an important interest.

A. Brian is charged with two “serious crimes.”

*Sell* did not define “serious crime” but federal courts often defer to the judgment of the legislature. *United States v. Breedlove*, 756 F.3d 1036, 1041 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2024); see *Lewis v. United States*, 518 U.S. 322, 326 (1996) (“The judiciary should not substitute its judgment as to seriousness for that of a legislature, which is far better equipped to perform the task”). Thus, this Court has looked to the definition of “serious crime” under Wis. Stat. § 969.08 for guidance. *J.D.B.*, 2024 WI App 61, ¶36.

On top of the statutory definition, this Court considers several factors—including whether the alleged crime involved violence and the maximum penalty—when determining whether a crime is a “serious crime.” *Id.* Here, Brian concedes that his charges for battery by a prisoner in 15CF117 and substantial battery<sup>3</sup> in 23CF295 are “serious crimes.”

But none of Brian’s other charges are “serious” in the context of the first *Sell* factor. None meet the legislature’s definition of “serious crime” under any statutory provision.<sup>4</sup> (R.44:2; App. 4). Likewise, while felony bail jumping is a class H felony that carries a maximum penalty of six years imprisonment, the maximum term of initial confinement is three years. *See Breedlove*, 756 F.3d at 1041 (“the maximum statutory penalty reflects at least some measure of legislative judgment regarding the seriousness of a crime”); *United State v. Valenzuela-Puentes*, 479 F.3d

---

<sup>3</sup> The legislature has classified substantial battery under Wis. Stat. § 940.19(2) as a “serious crime” in Wis. Stat. §§ 48.685(1)(c) and 50.065(1)(e), but not in Wis. Stat. § 689.08.

<sup>4</sup> “Serious crime” is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 48.685(1)(c); 48.686(1)(c); 50.065(1)(e)1. &2.; 969.08(10)(b). “Serious felony” is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 48.415(9m)(b); 302.11(1g); 939.62(2m)(a)2m.; 973.0135(1)(b). “Serious sex offense” is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 302.116(1)(a); 304.06(2m)(a); 939.615(1)(b). “Serious child sex offense” is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 301.48(1)(e); 939.62(2m)(a)1m.; 948.13(1). “Serious sex crime” is defined in Wis. Stat. § 973.017(4)(a)2. “Serious violent crime” is defined in Wis. Stat. § 939.619(1). Other statutes incorporate definitions from these statutes. *See, e.g.* Wis. Stat. §§ 120.13(14)(b)1.; 949.165(1)(a).

1220, 1226 (10th Cir. 2007) (compiling cases of offenses with maximum penalties between 10 and 50 years that were considered “serious” under the *Sell* standard); *United States v. White*, 620 F.3d 401, 410-11 (4th Cir. 2010). (“Without establishing a hard and fast rule . . . a crime is serious for involuntary medication purposes where the defendant faced a ten-year maximum sentence for the charges against him.”).

B. Brian’s history of mental health hospitalizations and the likelihood of his confinement under civil commitment undermine the state’s interest in prosecuting him.

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