FILED
10-06-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT II

Case Nos. 2025AP1745-CR; 2025AP1746-CR; 2025AP1747-CR; 2025AP1748-CR; 2025AP1749-CR; 2025AP1750-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,
v.
B. M. T.,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEALS FROM ORDERS OF INVOLUNTARY
MEDICATION TO RESTORE THE DEFENDANT TO
COMPETENCY, ENTERED IN MANITOWOC COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK R. ROHRER,
PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL J. CONWAY
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1134356

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857

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

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the involuntary medication order.

Brian argues that the circuit court erred in concluding that the State satisfied the first *Sell* factor and in concluding that the individualized treatment plan was sufficient to satisfy the second and fourth *Sell* factors. His arguments are meritless.

A. The Four *Sell* Factors

A defendant who is incompetent to stand trial may be subject to an involuntary medication order to be restored to competency. *See Sell*, 539 U.S. 166. Due process requires that a trial court may issue such an order only if it makes four specific findings or conclusions. *Id.* at 178–81. Those findings or conclusions pertain to: (1) an important governmental interest; (2) involuntary medication furthering that interest; (3) the necessity of medication; and (4) the medical appropriateness of the medication. *Id.* at 180–81. “The State is required to prove the factual components of each of the four factors by clear and convincing evidence.” *State v. Green*, 2021 WI App 18, ¶ 16, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583, *aff’d in part*, 2022 WI 30, 401 Wis. 2d 542, 973 N.W.2d 770.

“An individualized treatment plan is the necessary first step to fulfilling the second, third, and fourth *Sell*

requirements.” *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 37. This treatment plan must, at a minimum, identify:

- (1) the specific medication or range of medications that the treating physicians are permitted to use in their treatment of the defendant, (2) the maximum dosages that may be administered, and (3) the duration of time that involuntary treatment of the defendant may continue before the treating physicians are required to report back to the court.

Id. ¶ 38 (citation omitted). In addition, “the court must consider the individualized treatment plan as applied to the particular defendant” and in light of the relevant circumstances, such as the defendant’s history with psychotropic drugs and the defendant’s medical record. *Id.*

B. The State satisfied the first *Sell* factor by establishing an important interest in prosecuting Brian for 20 crimes.

The first *Sell* factor requires an important governmental interest in the prosecution. “The Government’s interest in bringing to trial an individual accused of a serious crime is important.” *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. It does not matter whether it is “a serious crime against the person or a serious crime against property.” *Id.* “In both instances the Government seeks to protect through application of the criminal law the basic human need for security.” *Id.* This analysis is case-specific. *Id.* “Special circumstances may lessen the importance of” the government’s interest. *State v. J.D.B.*, 2024 WI App 61, ¶ 37, 414 Wis. 2d 108, 13 N.W.3d 525 (quoting *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180).

Brian contends that only 2 of his 20 charged offenses are “serious” for purposes of *Sell*. (Brian’s Br. 18–19.) He makes this assertion because only his charges of battery by a prisoner in Case No. 2015CF117 and substantial battery in Case No. 2023CF295 are defined as “serious crimes” in any

Wisconsin statute (none of which pertain to involuntary medication). (Brian's Br. 19.) Brian's approach is flawed.

As an initial matter, Brian gives no explanation why his concession that 2 of his 20 charged offenses are serious, even under his own proffered approach, is not a concession that the first *Sell* factor is satisfied. The first *Sell* factor is satisfied by accusation of "a serious crime," *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180, and in this case Brian is accused of 2 such crimes by his own admission. The other 18 charges can only add to the seriousness of his overall behavior, not somehow dilute the seriousness of the 2 most serious charges of the 20.

In any case, *Sell* factor one does not turn on a canvassing of unrelated statutes. This Court has already explained that "*Sell* explicitly prohibits analyzing this factor in such a categorical fashion." *J.D.B.*, 414 Wis. 2d 108, ¶ 37. In an unpublished but authored opinion, this Court subsequently reiterated that "there is no requirement in *J.D.B.* that a crime *must* be listed in [Wis. Stat.] § 969.08 or any other statute defining 'serious crime' in other contexts in order to qualify as a 'serious crime' under *Sell*." *State v. T.A.W.*, No. 2025AP437-CR, 2025 WL 1565100, ¶ 19 (Wis. Ct. App. June 3, 2025) (unpublished). (R-App. 3–7.) These pronouncements are squarely aligned with *Sell* because *Sell* did not limit its first factor to categorizing crimes as "serious" or not. Instead, it directed courts to "consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government's interest in prosecution." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180 (emphasis added). In other words, being charged with "a serious crime" is sufficient, but not necessary, to satisfy the first *Sell* factor, the ultimate touchstone of which is the importance of the government's interest in prosecution. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180

Here, Brian's "prosecution" consists of 20 offenses in 6 cases. Brian's sentencing exposure, alone, illustrates the importance of his prosecution. Brian's 9 felonies consist of 7 Class H felonies and 2 Class I felonies. A Class H felony has

a maximum sentence of 6 years, with a maximum initial confinement term of 3 years. Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50(3)(h), 973.01(2)(b)8. A Class I felony has a maximum sentence of 3.5 years, with a maximum initial confinement term of 1.5 years. Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50(3)(i), 973.01(2)(b)9. A circuit court “may impose as many sentences as there are convictions” and possesses the authority to make multiple sentences consecutive to each other. Wis. Stat. § 973.15(2)(a). Thus, Brian’s felonies expose him to a maximum sentence of 49 years—24 of which may be imposed as a term of initial confinement. His 11 misdemeanor offenses increase his overall sentencing exposure to more than 50 years. *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.51(3). It is not controversial to conclude, as the circuit court did, that Brian’s numerous felonies established the State’s important interest in prosecuting him. (R. 47:25–26.)

Brian does not reckon with his total criminal liability. Instead, he asserts that the State lacks an interest in prosecuting him because a *single* Class H felony has a maximum sentence of 6 years and maximum term of initial confinement of 3 years. (Brian’s Br. 19.) The circuit court, however, did not err by aggregating Brian’s offenses when considering the government’s interest in prosecution. “Offenders who commit multiple crimes should not receive a sentencing ‘discount’ due to the sheer volume of their crimes.” *State v. Setagord*, 211 Wis. 2d 397, 421, 565 N.W.2d 506 (1997). Defendants charged with multiple Class H felonies should not receive a volume discount on *Sell* factor one, either.

Moreover, the Fourth Circuit decision on which Brian purports to rely, *United States v. White*, 620 F.3d 401 (4th Cir. 2010), rejected Brian’s approach. (Brian’s Br. 20.) The Fourth Circuit in *White* stated that “a crime is ‘serious’ for involuntary medication purposes where the defendant faced a ten-year maximum sentence for the *charges* against him.” *White*, 620 F.3d at 410–11 (emphasis added). After

aggregating the maximum sentences of the defendant's charges, the Fourth Circuit observed that the total maximum sentence of the defendant's charges exceeded 10 years. *Id.* at 411. Under this standard, it is immaterial whether this Court considers Brian's maximum total sentence or just the maximum term of initial confinement, as Brian suggests. (Brian's Br. 19.) Both maximum terms substantially exceed 10 years, establishing the State's important interest in prosecution under *Sell* factor one.⁵

Brian also ignores his lengthy criminal record. Brian had been convicted of 15 misdemeanors by the time that he was 38—before any of the 20 charges he now faces at the age of 49. (R. 2:1, 3.) This criminal history distinguishes him from the “first-time, then-19-year-old offender” in *J.D.B.* in which the State failed to satisfy the first *Sell* factor. *J.D.B.*, 414 Wis. 2d 108, ¶ 53. Instead, he resembles the “then-40-year-old, repeat offender” in *T.A.W.* in which the State proved the first *Sell* factor. *T.A.W.*, 2025 WL 1565100, ¶ 22. “The fact that [Brian] is a recidivist . . . increases the government's interest in prosecuting him.” *United States v. Valenzuela-Puentes*, 479 F.3d 1220, 1226 (10th Cir. 2007).

The record also establishes the State's interest in prosecuting Brian as a serial domestic abuser. Brian was convicted of violating a domestic abuse injunction twice from 2001 to 2002. (R. 2:3.) He is presently charged with four offenses—three misdemeanors and a Class I felony for

⁵ The other two federal cases on which Brian relies for persuasive support do not counsel against aggregating his offenses when considering the first *Sell* factor. (Brian's Br. 19–20.) In *United States v. Breedlove*, 756 F.3d 1036 (7th Cir. 2014), the Seventh Circuit observed that “Breedlove's crimes carry a maximum statutory penalty of life imprisonment,” *id.* at 1041 (emphasis added). In *United States v. Valenzuela-Puentes*, 479 F.3d 1220 (10th Cir. 2007), the defendant was charged with only one offense, *id.* at 1221.

substantial battery—as acts of domestic abuse for assaulting his sister on two separate occasions (in Case Nos. 2022CM614 and 2023CF295). Of those four offenses, Brian declares that only the felony is serious for *Sell*. (Brian’s Br. 19.) However, he fails to account for the escalating nature of domestic abuse. “[M]ost physical assaults committed against women and men by intimates are relatively minor and consist of pushing, grabbing, shoving, slapping, and hitting.” *United States v. Castleman*, 572 U.S. 157, 165 (2014) (citation omitted). It is “the accumulation of such acts over time” that subject the victim to the will of the abuser. *Id.* at 166. To unilaterally deem misdemeanor acts of domestic abuse “unserious” for *Sell* factor one would be inconsistent with *Sell*’s recognition that “the Government seeks to protect through application of the criminal law the basic human need for security.” *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180.

Relatedly, Brian’s arguments ignore the victims of his crimes who possess constitutional rights that further support the State’s interest in prosecution. Three of Brian’s cases involve victims: the correctional officer whom Brian headbutted in Case No. 2015CF117, and the two cases in which Brian assaulted his sister. Marsy’s Law constitutionally enshrines several rights for crime victims that “vest at the time of victimization.” Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(2). Crime victims are to “be treated with dignity, respect, courtesy, sensitivity, and fairness.” Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(2)(a). They are entitled to “full restitution” and “compensation as provided by law.” Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(2)(m), (n). “Marsy’s law guarantees that these rights will be ‘protected by law in a manner no less vigorous than the protections afforded [to] the accused.’” *State v. Johnson*, 2023 WI 39, ¶ 44, 407 Wis. 2d 195, 990 N.W.2d 174 (quoting Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(2)).

Barring the State from involuntarily medicating Brian would deprive his victims of these constitutional rights. As

the circuit court found based on Dr. Murtaugh's uncontested testimony, medication is the only means of restoring Brian to competency to stand trial. (R. 47:26.) Brian presently refuses to take medication. (R. 47:16.) As a result, there will be no further criminal proceedings without involuntary medication. Without further criminal proceedings, Brian's victims cannot recover restitution or compensation because restitution arises only from "crimes considered at sentencing." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1g)(a). Thus, the victims cannot obtain restitution without involuntarily medicating Brian. Moreover, deeming the charges that arise from the victims' suffering as "not serious" would offend the victims' constitutional rights to dignity, respect, courtesy, sensitivity, and fairness. Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(2)(a). There is no rationale for depriving the correctional officer and Brian's sister of the opportunity to hold Brian accountable when victims of similar offenses committed by competent defendants do not face such a risk. Involuntary medication is necessary to vindicate the victims' constitutional rights. Those rights require the same protections as Brian's liberty interest in avoiding involuntary medication. Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(2).

One more circumstance provides even more support for the State's interest in prosecuting Brian. Brian's methamphetamine charges in Case No. 2022CF907 present serious offenses because Brian's continued use of methamphetamine aggravates the symptoms of his mental illness. Although charged for possessing methamphetamine in December 2022, community members reported that Brian was consistently abusing methamphetamine from 2021 to 2023, and he tested positive for methamphetamine in 2021. (R. 36:3.) While subject to a civil commitment, providers observed that substance abuse would lead to Brian's "mental health deterioration." (R. 36:3.) If it is true, as Brian argues, that his mental illness precipitates his alleged criminal conduct (Brian's Br. 21–24), the State has an important

interest in prosecuting him for engaging in conduct that exacerbates his mental illness and, thus, increases the likelihood that he will commit crimes.

In sum, the State has an important interest in prosecuting a recidivist who faces a maximum sentence that exceeds 50 years and repeatedly engages in acts of domestic abuse. Moreover, prosecution will vindicate the constitutional rights of Brian's crime victims and address the substance abuse that makes Brian pose a greater threat to the public.

Despite his staggering criminal liability, Brian claims that "special circumstances" supersede the State's substantial interest in prosecuting him. (Brian's Br. 20–25.) He contends that the record shows that he is a credible candidate for a civil commitment under chapter 51 or a commitment following a verdict of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect ("NGI"). (Brian's Br. 21–24.) Brian has not identified any special circumstances.

Brian believes that his lengthy history of chapter 51 commitments and hospitalizations undermine the State's interest in prosecution. (Brian's Br. 21.) The opposite is true. This history convincingly establishes the futility of yet another chapter 51 commitment.

Sell refused to "suggest that civil commitment is a substitute for a criminal trial." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. *Sell* opined that the prospect of "lengthy confinement in an institution for the mentally ill" could reduce the State's interest. *Id.* (emphasis added). The State's interest could be reduced in such cases, however, because a lengthy commitment "would diminish the risks that ordinarily attach to freeing without punishment one who has committed a serious crime." *Id.* Federal courts in addressing this issue have consistently required evidence that a lengthy civil commitment is possible before it can impact the disposition of *Sell* factor one. See *United States v. Cruz*, 757 F.3d 372, 388

(3d Cir. 2014); *United States v. Gutierrez*, 704 F.3d 442, 450 (5th Cir. 2013); *United States v. Dillon*, 738 F.3d 284, 294–95 (D.C. Cir. 2013).

A chapter 51 commitment decidedly does *not* constitute “lengthy confinement” under *Sell*. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180 (emphasis added). Here, the maximum term of initial civil commitment under chapter 51 is six months, and “all subsequent consecutive orders of commitment” are capped at one year. Wis. Stat. § 51.20(13)(g)1. Under Wis. Stat. § 51.20(13)(g)2d.a., the subject of a civil commitment can presumptively be treated on an outpatient basis after a mere 30 days. *See Dillon*, 738 F.3d at 294 (distinguishing the prospect of being civilly committed as an outpatient from being civilly confined for the purpose of *Sell* factor one). A civil commitment in increments of six months or one year falls far short of Brian’s exposure to an aggregate sentence of more than 50 years, particularly when Brian could almost immediately be treated on an outpatient basis under chapter 51—an option no one could seriously think he would not pursue. A civil commitment therefore cannot substitute for Brian’s six criminal trials. *See Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180.

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